RECEIVED

02-12-2018

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1332-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

AKIM A. BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and
Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief Entered in
Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Daniel L.
Konkol and the Honorable M. Joseph Donald, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MELINDA A. SWARTZ
State Bar No. 1001536

LAW OFFICE OF MELINDA
SWARTZ LLC
316 North Milwaukee Street, Suite 535
Milwaukee, WI 53202
(414) 270-0660
E-mail: melinda@mswartzlegal.com

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether Mr. Brown was deprived of his state and federal constitutional rights to the effective of counsel when trial counsel failed to: (a) elicit Mr. Brown's testimony that the alleged victim stimulated herself during their sexual intercourse, and to the intercourse act itself; and (b) object to a witness' testimony repeating the alleged victim's statements consistent with her testimony?

The circuit court answered no.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication are requested because the issues can be developed and resolved by the parties' briefs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a sexual assault allegation by L.S. against an acquaintance, Akim Brown, following their sexual intercourse in her bed, just after 12:00 a.m. on Monday November 25, 2013.

Mr. Brown and L.S. met over the weekend at the Green Bay home of mutual friends, Tyler and Elizabeth Simmons. Mr. Brown drove L.S. back to Milwaukee on Sunday evening.

L.S. did not report the sexual assault allegation to the police until Wednesday November 27th.

During a videotaped police interrogation, Mr. Brown denied sexually assaulting L.S. and described their consensual sexual intercourse in the missionary position. (85:4-7,21;199¹) Among other things, he stated twice that, during the intercourse, L.S. pulled her legs back and stimulated herself. (85:5,21)

Attorney Douglas Batt represented Mr. Brown at trial.

The central issue was whether L.S. consented to the sexual intercourse. She claimed that she did not, while Mr. Brown explained that she had consented. There was no physical evidence of an assaultive sexual intercourse nor any eyewitnesses to their intercourse. The jury's verdict rested on its credibility determination on consent.

Following a March 3-5, 2014 trial, after deliberating nearly four hours, a jury convicted Mr. Brown of second degree sexual assault, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a). (125;126;150;127:5-6;43).

Prior to sentencing, after Mr. Brown explained that he wanted new counsel, the court, the Honorable Daniel L. Konkol, granted Attorney Batt's motion to withdraw. (129:2-4;46) On May 27, 2014, Judge Konkol sentenced Mr. Brown to 20 years with 12 years confinement and eight years extended supervision. (131;51; App. 101-102) Mr. Brown timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on May 29, 2014. (52)

¹Record Item 199 is a DVD containing Mr. Brown's videotaped interview. Record Item 85 is a transcript of this interview. Hereinafter, record citations to the videotaped interview will be to the transcript, Record Item 85.

Mr. Brown timely filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion for a new trial on the grounds that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel and in the interests of justice. (69)²

The circuit court, the Honorable M. Joseph Donald³, conducted a *Machner*⁴ evidentiary hearing over five days. (133;134;136;137,138) The parties submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. (99;108) Among other issues, the parties litigated whether Mr. Brown was entitled to a new trial because: (1) he was denied the effective assistance of counsel by trial counsel's failure to: (a) elicit Mr. Brown's testimony of the intercourse act itself, including L.S. stimulating herself during it; and (b) object to a police officer's testimony to L.S.'s prior out-of-court statements consistent with her testimony; and (2) in the interests of justice because the real controversy was not fully tried.⁵

² Mr. Brown also filed a supplement to the motion alleging that he was denied due process when the State relied on false testimony to convict him. (80) This issue is not raised on appeal and the facts related to this issue is not discussed below.

³ The postconviction motion was administratively assigned to Judge Donald.

⁴ *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W. 2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

⁵ The postconviction motion also alleged that counsel's failure to interview Mr. Brown about the details of his interactions with L.S. over the weekend, during the car ride, and the sexual intercourse, to review Mr. Brown's recorded police statement, to review the recorded statement with Mr. Brown, to prepare Mr. Brown to testify, to impeach L.S.'s testimony regarding her urgent care visit, to impeach an officer's testimony regarding Mr. Brown's custodial statement, to interview Ms. Simmons prior to her trial testimony and to object to Ms. Simmons' testimony to L.S.'s prior consistent statements denied him the effective assistance of counsel. (69) These claims are not raised on appeal and the facts related to them are not discussed below.

The court orally denied the motion (141:2-7; App. 103-108) for a new trial, and on June 15, 2017 entered a written order denying postconviction relief. (115; App. 118) In denying the postconviction motion, the circuit court adopted the State's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law *in toto*. (141:6-7; App. 107-108)

A notice of appeal was timely filed on July 5, 2017. (117)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

L.S.'s Testimony

L.S. met Mr. Brown at the Simmons' home and had little interaction with him. (125:64-67) On Sunday evening, L.S. paid Mr. Brown for a ride to Milwaukee. (*Id.*:67-68) They engaged in small talk throughout the ride and L.S. did not consider this conversation romantic. (*Id.*:69)

Mr. Brown drove L.S. to her cousin's home to pick up her car. (*Id.*:69-70) Mr. Brown then followed L.S. to her residence, because he wanted to ensure her safety. (*Id.*:78)

After arriving at her building, Mr. Brown asked to use her bathroom. (125:78-79; 126:5) Once inside her apartment, Mr. Brown took off his coat and boots, immediately walked into her bedroom, took off all his clothes except his boxers, and sat on her bed. (125:81-84; 126:5-6,12-13)

As L.S. stood at the bedroom doorway, she told Mr. Brown that he needed to get dressed and leave. (125:82-83; 126:6,13) When Mr. Brown did not respond, she repeated herself. (125:83-84) In a text exchange between 12:11-12:15

a.m.⁶, L.S. texted Ms. Simmons that Mr. Brown was still in her home. (125:76; 126:8; 17) L.S. admitted she did not text Ms. Simmons that Mr. Brown would not leave nor call her. (126:9)

Mr. Brown forcibly grabbed her by her shirt collar and pulled her onto the bed. (125:84-85; 126:17-18) L.S. admitted that Mr. Brown selected the DVD movie playing on the television. (126:7,17) She denied joining Mr. Brown in her bed, watching a movie with him or talking about anything else with him. (*Id.*)

Mr. Brown then pulled off her pants; she resisted and repeatedly stated “no”, that she barely knew him and she was not the kind of a girl to have sex with people she just met. (125:85-86; 126:20) Mr. Brown said that everything will be okay and that he had been a “total gentleman.” (125:85) She continued struggling and saying “no” as he pulled off her underwear and Mr. Brown became a little more aggressive. (125:86; 126:19)

Mr. Brown laid on top of her body, pressing her down, and had penis to vagina sexual intercourse with her. (125:85,87-88) L.S. unsuccessfully tried to push him off and keep her legs crossed. (*Id.*:87-88; 126:15-16) L.S. did not scratch him and did not think of hitting him. (126:16) Her body went numb; she blacked out during the sexual intercourse, which ended when Mr. Brown ejaculated inside of her. (125:88-89; 126:18,20) L.S. denied that Mr. Brown put his finger in her vagina. (126:12)

L.S. did not think of using her phone, located on her dresser, to call 911 because she feared Mr. Brown would do

⁶ L.S. and Ms. Simmons texted each other during the car ride and after L.S. and Mr. Brown arrived at L.S.’s apartment. (125:70,74-76; 18; 17)

something worse. (125:89-90) She did not leave her apartment because she did not want to leave her personal property with Mr. Brown. (*Id.*:90) L.S. did not scream because she did not know if her neighbor was home. (*Id.*:92-93)

After the sexual intercourse, L.S. took a shower. (125:89; 126:10) She told Mr. Brown several times that he needed to leave her apartment. (125:92-93)

Mr. Brown continued to watch the movie and took a shower after L.S. finished showering. (125:90; 126:10-11) L.S. did not think of leaving her apartment to call the police and, instead, laid down on the living room couch. (125:90; 126:11)

After Mr. Brown showered, he dressed, kissed her forehead, and left the apartment around 2:00 a.m. (125:90-91, 93; 126:12) L.S. locked her front door. (125:91) She did not call anyone and did not think to call the police. (*Id.*:93-94)

The following morning, before going to work, L.S. called Ms. Simmons and told her what happened. (*Id.*:94; 126:9) That same day, L.S. went to urgent care, but did not stay to receive medical treatment. (125:95) Two days later, L.S. went to the police station to report that Mr. Brown sexually assaulted her. (*Id.*:96; 126:13) Later that day, she received medical treatment at the Sexual Assault Treatment Center. (125:97-98; 126:14)

L.S. did not have any physical injuries or bruises from this incident, including no bruises from Mr. Brown forcing her legs open. (125:99; 126:16-17)

Mr. Brown's Testimony

On Friday night, at the Simmons' home, Mr. Brown, who had five criminal convictions, walked by L.S. and his arm "graced [sic]" L.S.'s buttocks and she stated to him "all you got to do is ask for it" which was based on a playful flirt earlier in the conversation. (126:81-82,104) On Sunday evening, he agreed to give L.S. a ride to Milwaukee on his way to his Kenosha home. (*Id.*:82-84) During the car ride, L.S. stated that she had checked him out on the internet, including his Facebook page. (*Id.*:84) They also discussed how the Simmons did not feel comfortable with Mr. Brown sleeping at their home because of the possibility that he and L.S. would have sex. (*Id.*:85)

He took L.S. to pick up her car and followed her home. (*Id.*:84-85) Mr. Brown and L.S. had previously made plans for him to come to her apartment. (*Id.*:84-85,89,105,107) Their idea was that he was going to spend the night. (*Id.*:84-85,89,107) He told the police L.S. wanted to show him her apartment and did not explain their agreement that he spend the night. (126:106) Mr. Brown denied asking to use her bathroom and explained that he had urinated outside when dropping L.S. off at her car. (*Id.*:86,105)

After entering the apartment, L.S. increased the heat, showed him her apartment, discussed the cold temperature and weather stripping, and showed him a window in her bedroom, which he taught her how to latch. (*Id.*:87-88,93) They discussed watching a movie; L.S. put a movie in the DVD player, made a phone call, changed her clothes, put lotion on her body, turned off the apartment lights, and eventually crawled into bed with him, leaving once again to go to her phone. (*Id.*:88-94) Mr. Brown denied pulling L.S. onto the bed. (*Id.*:95)

Mr. Brown's direct examination continued:

Q: What happened then at the time when you're watching TV? How did the sex start?

A: With me knealt [sic] in front of her, pulling off her socks, talking about her feet, me leaning over the top of her with my hands on either side of her and her hands on my side of my torso.

Q: Was she ever saying no or stop, stop?

A: No, nothing—nothing of the sort. I was kissing on her neck and her ear at this moment, basically kissing on her neck and ear. I don't know what you would call it, wooing, physically wooing somebody into sex and –

Q: Did she ever at any time to you --- did she ever say or indicate to you that she did not want to have sex?

A: No.

Q: Did you—Did she ever---Did you force yourself on her?

A: No.

Q: Did you hold her down?

A: No. Not at all.

Q: Did you lay on her, on top of her, so like she said your breast plate was on her and she couldn't move?

A: No. I was using my open arms to hold my torso up off of her torso even with her laying down flat. I mean, without attempting to be rude, she's a thicker woman in her torso and body and I mean her torso and mine actually touched with her body.

Q: Did did [sic] she attempt in any way to struggle, you know, with her arms or—

A: No.

Q: Forearms or elbows?

A: No, not at all.

Q: Did she scratch at you?

A: No.

Q: And did she give you any resistance with her legs, trying to keep them from opening them, as she said?

A: No. Her legs were up around my side at this point so ---

Q. They were around—

A. We're all adults and everybody knows the missionary sex position. It was a missionary sex position at that moment. We weren't having sex at that moment and her legs were up on my side. She has large legs which were up on my hips at that moment with me and my hands down, leaning over, kissing her neck and ear, sucking on her ears, that –

Q: Did you ever put your finger up her vagina?

A: No.

Q: You said – can you tell us about how long this lasted?

A: Within a couple of minutes of that action and us basically making out which we started to kiss but I didn't like kissing her. I stopped kissing right away. My breath didn't taste good and I stopped kissing her immediately and went back to basically necking her as you might call it.

Q: What happened then after the two of you had sex?

A: I did roll over. I knelt back and she got up and she went to the bathroom and she did take a shower...

(Id.:95-98)

During L.S.'s shower, he watched the movie. *(Id.:98)* After taking his own shower, Mr. Brown joined L.S. in the bed. *(Id.:98-100)* She told him that he had made her vagina sore. *(Id.:98-99)*

L.S. never told him to leave her apartment or implied that he should. *(Id.:99)* She explained she would wake him up at 5:00 a.m. because she had to leave for work early. *(Id.:100-101)* L.S. fell asleep; he watched the rest of the movie and eventually left around 2:00 a.m. to avoid waking up early that same morning. *(Id.:100-101)*

Mr. Brown did not give L.S. his address or phone number, and lied to her about having a working phone. *(Id.:102,109)* He told the police he had no reason or motive for why L.S. was accusing him of a sexual assault. *(126:109)* L.S. said she sent him a Facebook request before the car ride, which he could not find several days later. *(Id.:110)*. He would not have accepted her Facebook request because he was not attracted to her. *(Id.:102-103)* He believed he told the police that he was not attracted to all of L.S., just her large buttocks. *(Id.:107-108)*

Other Relevant Witness Testimony

Among other witnesses for the State, Police Officer Joan Mueller testified to L.S.'s November 27th statements to her relating a similar story about Mr. Brown sexually assaulting her. *(126:33-40)* L.S.'s account to Officer Mueller

differed from her testimony on two points -- Mr. Brown put a movie in the DVD player and said he was going to watch it and he placed his finger in her vagina. (126:47) Officer Mueller also testified that L.S. repeated a consistent version the next day when the police walked through her apartment. (126:41)

Ms. Simmons testified that first thing L.S. told her during their telephone call early the next morning (around 5:00 a.m. or 6:00 a.m.) was she thought she was “taken advantage of.” (126:66) L.S.’s account to Ms. Simmons differed from her testimony on a several key points: she and Mr. Brown were laying on her bed watching TV before the sexual intercourse; she declined Mr. Brown’s invitation to lay next to him; and she tried to get off the bed, but Mr. Brown pulled her down. (*Id.*:67-68) L.S.’s account to Ms. Simmons was similar to her testimony on several points including: Mr. Brown asking to use her bathroom, getting on top of her in her bed, forcing her legs open, forcing himself on her; she repeatedly said stop and that she did not want to have sex with him. (*Id.*:67-68)

On rebuttal, among other things, Officer Barbara Court testified that during the interrogation, Mr. Brown said they had consensual sexual intercourse in her bed. (*Id.*:119) He explained that went to L.S.’s home because she wanted to show him her apartment and, by the way their conversation was going, he thought they might have sex. (*Id.*:117-18) Mr. Brown did not relate any specific comments were made about having sex, but they were making comments in that direction, including that L.S. mentioned him not contacting her again and, therefore, she would try to friend him on Facebook. (126:118) He also said that they had not disagreed and he did not know why she would say this was a non-consensual situation. (*Id.*:121)

Closing Arguments and Jury Deliberations

After noting that the jury's verdict rested on whether it found L.S. or Mr. Brown more credible, the prosecutor argued that L.S. was more credible. (150:4-12,20-23) In so arguing, the prosecutor emphasized that L.S. had not glossed over any part of the sexual assault and her testimony was consistent with what she told her friends and Officer Mueller:

When [L.S.] took the witness stand, she had a lot of detail. She told you about what happened from beginning to end.

She didn't have to gloss over any of the parts. She didn't not remember the act of sexual assault itself or the reason why the defendant was in her apartment. She was consistent with her friends, with Officer Mueller and the original interview, with the walk through at the scene later in the day and here on the witness stand.

(150:6)

In arguing that Mr. Brown was not credible, the prosecutor emphasized that, during his testimony, he provided little to no detail about the sexual intercourse:

[A]ll of the detail the defendant had for you was about the things that happened around the actual crime. He had little to no detail. He glossed over the actual crime that occurred, the sexual intercourse that he forced on [L.S.]

It's that kind of admit what you can't deny, deny what you can't admit phenomenon.

(150:22)

Attorney Batt argued that Mr. Brown was more credible and that he was maybe a "jerk" but not a rapist. (*Id.*) He argued that the sex was consensual; L.S. was seduced by

someone she did not really know, which she realized when she awoke the next morning and was ashamed and regretted it. (*Id.*:17-18) He noted that L.S.'s words to Ms. Simmons that morning were not that she had been raped, but rather "I may have been taken advantage of." (*Id.*:15) Counsel emphasized L.S.'s lack of injuries and her failure to yell for help, leave, or call the police. (*Id.*:14-16)

After deliberating for approximately 1½ hours⁷, the jury requested Mr. Brown's testimony. (150:30; 42:1) After asked if there was a more specific area of concern regarding Mr. Brown's testimony, the jury requested both Mr. Brown's and L.S.'s testimony during the sex act. (150:33-34; 42:2-3,6) The jury deliberated for approximately 1½ hours⁸ before returning to the courtroom where it was read both L.S.'s and Mr. Brown's direct testimony from the time they entered the apartment to L.S.'s shower. (127:4) Forty minutes later, the jury returned its guilty verdict.⁹ (154:4-5)

Other facts will be discussed below as necessary.

⁷ Deliberations began at approximately 9:40 a.m. and, at 11:26 a.m., the case was recalled to address the jury's request for Mr. Brown's testimony. (154:4; 150:30)

⁸Just before the lunch break, the court ordered the jury to return to its deliberations at 1:15 p.m. (150:34-36). At 2:58 p.m., the jury returned to the courtroom. (154:4; 127:4)

⁹After the court reporter read the testimony, the jury left the courtroom at 3:26 p.m. (154:4) At 4:06 p.m., the case was recalled and the jury returned its guilty verdict (154:5)

ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Brown is Entitled to a New Trial Because He Was Denied His Constitutional Rights to the Effective Assistance of Counsel When Trial Counsel Failed to: (A) Elicit His Testimony that L.S. Stimulated Herself During Their Intercourse and to the Intercourse Act; and (B) Object to Officer Mueller's Testimony Repeating L.S.'s Prior Statements Consistent with Her Testimony that Mr. Brown had Sexually Assaulted Her.

According to Attorney Batt, he knew from the beginning that the issue would be whether L.S. consented to the sexual intercourse. (134:39) Mr. Brown consistently maintained that the sexual intercourse had been consensual. (134:25,29,71,79-80,93; 136:24) Counsel's theory of defense was that L.S. consented and lied because Mr. Brown seduced her; she regretted it in the morning and she was ashamed that she had sex with an unfamiliar person. (136:4-5) Given the lack of physical evidence and third-party eyewitness testimony, counsel knew the jury's credibility determination on consent would be crucial. (134:39-41)

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