# RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-27-2018**

#### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1332-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

AKIM A. BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DANIEL L. KONKOL PRESIDING AT TRIAL, THE HONORABLE M. JOSEPH DONALD PRESIDING POSTCONVICTON

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

# A. The applicable law regarding a challenge to the effectiveness of trial counsel

Brown bore the burden of proving that the performance of his trial counsel was both deficient and prejudicial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d at 127.

To prove deficient performance, Brown had to overcome a strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably within professional norms. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690; *Trawitzki*, 244 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 40; *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d at 127. There is a strong presumption that counsel exercised reasonable professional judgment, and that counsel's decisions were based on sound trial strategy. State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 43, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583. See Eckstein v. Kingston, 460 F.3d 844, 848–49 (7th Cir. 2006) (same). Decisions that fall squarely within the realm of strategic choice are not reviewable under Strickland. United States v. Cieslowski, 410 F.3d 353, 361 (7th Cir. 2005). See Knowles v. Mirzayance, 556 U.S. 111, 124 (2009). "Strategic choices are 'virtually unchallengeable." McAfee v. Thurmer, 589 F.3d 353, 356 (7th Cir. 2009) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690).

The reviewing court is not to evaluate counsel's conduct in hindsight, but must make every effort to evaluate counsel's conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. *McAfee*, 589 F.3d at 356. Brown was not entitled to error-free representation. Trial counsel need not even be very good to be deemed constitutionally adequate. *Id.* at 355–56. *See State v. Wright*, 2003 WI 252, ¶ 28, 268 Wis. 2d 694, 673 N.W.2d 386. Ordinarily, a defendant does not prevail unless he proves that counsel's performance sunk to the level of professional malpractice. *Maloney*, 281 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 23 n.11.

Regarding prejudice, Brown bore the burden of proving that counsel's errors were so serious they deprived him of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d at 127. He had to prove a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the trial would have been different. A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *McAfee*, 589 F.3d at 357. *See Trawitzki*, 244 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 40; *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d at 129. Brown could not speculate. He had to affirmatively prove prejudice. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. "The likelihood of a different outcome 'must be substantial, not just conceivable.' [*Harrington v.*] *Richter*, 131 S. Ct. at 792." *Campbell v. Smith*, 770 F.3d 540, 549 (7th Cir. 2014).

Trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to interpose meritless objections at trial. *E.g.*, *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 380, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987); *State v. Berggren*, 2009 WI App 82, ¶ 21, 320 Wis. 2d 209, 769 N.W.2d 110; *State v. Swinson*, 2003 WI App 45, ¶ 59, 261 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 12.

The reviewing court need not address both the deficient performance and prejudice components if Brown failed to make a sufficient showing as to either one of them. *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 61, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115.

B. Brown failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice in how counsel handled his testimony about the sex act.

# 1. Brown failed to prove deficient performance.

As discussed above, Brown told police that the victim masturbated during this supposedly consensual sexual encounter. Attorney Batt told Brown on the eve of trial to testify about her masturbating. (R. 136:30.) Brown concedes that Batt told him to testify that the victim masturbated. (Brown's Br. 17.) Brown had every opportunity to do so, but did not mention her masturbating in his testimony. Instead, he went off on tangents and got hung up on insignificant details. He did not focus on what mattered. Brown has no one to blame for that but himself.

Only Brown and L.S. knew what happened in her bedroom that night. Attorney Batt was not there. Attorney Batt told Brown to tell the jury what happened. Batt specifically told Brown to tell the jury about her supposedly masturbating just as he told the police after his arrest. In Brown's own words, Batt said to him, "I should just explain what really took place." (R. 137:28.) In short, based on his discussions with Batt, Brown knew when he took the stand exactly what he was supposed to say. This included telling the jury, as he told police, that the victim masturbated. For reasons known only to him, Brown left out what he now believes was an outcome-determinative detail. He did not, as directed by Batt, "explain what really took place."

This was not deficient performance. Attorney Batt discussed this with Brown on the eve of trial. (R. 108:3 ¶ 29, A-App. 112 ¶ 29.) Counsel went over Brown's testimony with him before trial and told Brown to tell the jury about the victim's masturbating, just as he had told police. Brown's failure to "just explain what really took place" as he was directed to do by Batt is his own fault. Brown's postconviction claim that he "had no idea what I needed to say at trial" (R. 137:39, 52), is patently incredible especially given his extensive criminal justice experience as reflected in his five prior convictions and a prior sexual assault charge (R. 108:1 ¶ 4, A-App. 110 ¶ 4; 126:104). Brown fails to explain why he knew what to tell the police about the sex act before trial but had no idea what to tell the jury about the sex act at trial. He knew exactly what to tell the jury but chose, against counsel's advice, to veer off on tangents instead.

#### 2. Brown failed to prove prejudice.

In essence, "these facts came out anyway." (R. 108:5 ¶ 4, A-App. 114 ¶ 4.) While he failed to testify that the victim supposedly massaged her clitoris during the sex act, Brown graphically and boastfully described how L.S. changed into more comfortable clothes, applied lotion to her body, and as they made out on the bed, she lifted her legs into the air and wrapped them around his torso while they were in the "missionary sex position." (R. 126:97.) She then, according to Brown, playfully told him after they were done that "my pussy is sore." (R. 126:98.) Brown also claimed that L.S. "friend" requested him on Facebook thereafter. (R. 126:102.)<sup>2</sup>

This testimony more than adequately got Brown's point across to the jury: L.S. not only consented to sex with him, she thoroughly enjoyed it and actively participated. The fact that L.S. may have also stroked her clitoris as she lifted her legs and wrapped them around his torso in the "missionary sex position" does not add much. It would not create a reasonable probability of an acquittal. It may have, indeed, provoked the prosecutor to call L.S. back to the stand in rebuttal to steadfastly deny that she masturbated or in any way enjoyed this forced and non-consensual intercourse. L.S. specifically testified in the State's case-in-chief that she tried to cross her legs to prevent Brown from having intercourse, but he overpowered her and forced her legs apart before forcing his penis inside her vagina. (R. 126:16.) Had counsel asked Brown whether L.S. massaged her clitoris, it would have only alienated the jury in all reasonable probability.

The jury disbelieved everything else Brown testified to about the victim's consent to and enjoyment of sex with him. His adding that she also masturbated would not have changed the jury's credibility assessment in all reasonable probability. The jury would have found this additional detail every bit as offensive and fabricated by a desperate perpetrator as were all of the other lurid details he provided. That additional self-serving detail, intended by Brown to further besmirch the victim's character, would not have changed the undeniable fact that, as the trial court found, "[t]he credible testimony of the victim in this case is what convicted" Brown. (R. 108:7, A-App. 116.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In light of this testimony, Brown's assertion at page 22 of his brief that "the jury did not hear any evidence from Mr. Brown about his and L.S.'s physical actions during their consensual sexual intercourse," is patently false.

C. Brown failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice caused by counsel's failure to object to Detective Mueller's testimony summarizing L.S.'s prior consistent statements.

Brown complains that Attorney Batt should have objected when Detective Mueller summarized L.S.'s statements during her police interview describing the events of that fateful evening. (Brown's Br. 23.) L.S.'s trial testimony was consistent with those statements. The trial court held that Brown failed to prove deficient performance. L.S.'s prior statements to Mueller were admissible "to rebut the defense's theory that the victim was lying." (R. 108:5 ¶ 7, A-App. 114 ¶ 7.)

# 1. Brown failed to prove deficient performance.

Prior consistent statements are not hearsay and are admissible if they rebut an express or implied charge of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive. Wis. Stat. § 908.01(4)(a)2. The prior consistent statements must predate the alleged recent fabrication or improper influence or motive before they have probative value. *State v. Mainiero*, 189 Wis. 2d 80, 103, 525 N.W.2d 304 (Ct. App. 1994); *State v. Peters*, 166 Wis. 2d 168, 176, 479 N.W.2d 198 (Ct. App. 1991). It is not enough for admissibility that the defendant alleges the victim is lying. "The allegation must be that the fabrication is recent or based upon an improper influence or motive." Peters, 166 Wis. 2d at 177 (emphasis added).

The defense theory was that L.S.'s accusation of rape was based upon an "improper . . . motive." Detective Mueller's account rebutted the express charge by Brown at trial that L.S. had an improper motive for falsely accusing him: she was seduced by him, she agreed to sex, and she regretted being used by him. L.S. was ashamed and embarrassed, so she falsely accused Brown of rape. (R. 128:14–19.) L.S.'s prior consistent statements to Detective Mueller two days after the assault that the sex with Brown was forced and without consent made it less likely that she was improperly motivated to falsify her testimony at trial more than five months later.

L.S.'s statements to Mueller also rebutted the implied charge by Brown that L.S. fabricated her trial testimony that she only allowed Brown into her home to use the bathroom. This was implied by Brown from what he claimed were L.S.'s prior inconsistent statements to Elizabeth Simmons on the telephone during the early morning of November 25, and a few days later to Police Officer Barbara Court, that she had "invited" Brown into her home for sex. (R. 126:9, 73–74.) L.S. testified at trial, just as she consistently told Simmons a few hours after the assault (R. 126:73–74), and consistently told Detective Mueller two days after the assault, that she did not "invite" Brown into her home; she only allowed him inside to use the bathroom as he had asked (R. 126:34–35). Attorney Batt was not, therefore, ineffective for failing to object to the unobjectionable. Harvey, 139 Wis. 2d at 380; Berggren, 320 Wis. 2d 209, ¶ 21.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Brown's failure to object did not allow the parties and the trial court to ferret out a proper evidentiary theory for admissibility at trial. His failure to object also did not allow the parties and the trial court to determine whether defense counsel wanted some or all of the prior consistent statements to Mueller to come in as support for his theory that L.S. made this all up because, as she admitted to Mueller, she failed to scream, call "911," leave, or resist more robustly. This Court may, however, affirm on any evidentiary or strategic theory that would support the trial court's decision. *E.g., State v. Alles*, 106 Wis. 2d 368, 391, 316 N.W.2d 378 (1982); *Int'l Flavors & Fragrances, Inc. v. Valley Forge Ins. Co.,* 2007 WI App 187, ¶ 23, 304 Wis. 2d 732, 738 N.W.2d 159; *State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 123–26, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985) (the state may argue on appeal any valid ground supported by the record and the law to affirm the trial court's ruling). *See also State* 

#### 2. Brown failed to prove prejudice.

Even assuming that counsel should have objected to Mueller's testimony relating L.S.'s prior consistent statements, Brown failed below and fails here to adequately explain why this matters. He barely even tries. (Brown's Br. 25–26.)

Given that her statements to Detective Mueller were consistent with L.S.'s trial testimony, they were merely cumulative to it and to other admissible testimony. The jury properly learned that L.S. reported the sexual assault to police when she was interviewed by Detective Mueller on November 27, who described L.S. as very emotional, crying, and embarrassed. (R. 126:36.) Mueller also properly testified that L.S. was very emotional when she gave a consistent account of what happened to her as they did a walk-through of her home the same day after the interview. (R. 126:40–41.)

Mueller arranged to have L.S. examined at the hospital. This alone supports a strong inference that L.S. gave Mueller a credible account of sexual assault by Brown that was at least similar to her trial testimony, otherwise Mueller would not have arranged for her to have a sexual assault examination. When she went in for the examination, the nurse (Scott) observed L.S. to be scared, exhausted, tearful, and tense. (R. 126:57–59.). This also supports a reasonable inference that L.S. was sexually assaulted by Brown, as she would later testify at trial.

Mueller's account of what L.S. told her was also cumulative to the testimony of Elizabeth Simmons describing

*v. Mares*, 149 Wis. 2d 519, 527 n.2, 439 N.W.2d 146 (Ct. App. 1989) ("We are not bound by the trial court's determination that the [prior consistent] statements were admissible to rebut motive to falsify. If the trial court reached the correct result for the wrong reason, we may affirm.").

L.S.'s text messages and telephone call to her reporting the sexual assault early on November 25, a few hours after Brown left and just before L.S. went to work. Brown no longer objects to the admission of Simmons's prior consistent account of what L.S. told her.

More important, Brown was able to use much of what L.S. told Detective Mueller, and consistently testified to at trial, to his advantage. Both in her trial testimony, and in her earlier statement to Detective Mueller, L.S. admitted that she did not scream out, call "911," try to flee, hit Brown, leave, or seek help while Brown was taking a shower after the assault, or go to the police until two days later. She suffered no physical injuries. ((L.S.'s trial testimony) R. 25:88, 92-94, 99; 126:11, 17; (Mueller's trial testimony) R. 126:37-38, 40.) According to Mueller, L.S. told her that she resisted Brown, "but in a sense cooperated." (R. 126:40.) Attorney Batt pointed this all out in closing argument to the jury (R. 128:14), to support his theory that L.S. was seduced by Brown and was ashamed of herself when she woke up the next day. This, counsel argued, is what motivated her to falsely accuse Brown at trial. (R. 128:18-19.)<sup>4</sup>

There is no reasonable probability of a different outcome if Mueller were allowed only to testify that L.S. reported being sexually assaulted by Brown, Mueller took a statement from her without going into detail about what she said, L.S. was crying and embarrassed, Mueller arranged for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Brown, indeed, relies on these very same points in his brief to support his argument that this was not "an open and shut case." (Brown's Br. 27.) Detective Mueller's prior consistent testimony on those very points was, therefore, beneficial to his defense. That is likely why counsel did not object.

her to have a sexual assault examination, and L.S. was very emotional during the walk-through at her home later on.

When one compares the quality of L.S.'s trial testimony with that of the unfocused and boastful Brown, it becomes quite clear why the jury chose to believe her and not him. It did not need L.S.'s consistent statements to Detective Brown to make that determination.<sup>5</sup> Brown failed to prove a reasonable probability of an acquittal without L.S.'s consistent statements to Mueller. *See Mainiero*, 189 Wis. 2d at 103–04 (erroneous admission of the victim's prior consistent statement in a sexual assault case, where the outcome "hinged on who the jury ultimately believed," was harmless).

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